IN THE

MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2010-CA-01076

EMJ CORPORATION, Appellant,

v.

CONTRACT STEEL CONSTRUCTION, INC., Appellee.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT, EMJ CORPORATION

Ronald L. Harper, Pro Hac Vice
Charles R. Patrick, MS Bar No.
Attorneys for Appellant, EMJ Corp.
80 Monroe Avenue, Suite 800
Memphis, Tennessee 38103
(901) 527-0214
ron.harper@leitnerfirm.com
charlie.patrick@leitnerfirm.com

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Certificate of Interested Persons

EMJ CORPORATION,

Appellant,

V.

No. 2010-CA-01076

CONTRACT STEEL CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Appellee.

Statement of Position Regarding Oral Argument Requested

The Appellant, EMJ Corporation, respectfully requests oral argument. This appeal presents complicated facts and legal issues, and oral argument would be beneficial to this Honorable Court and to the parties. The Appellant, therefore, respectfully submits that oral argument would be appropriate in this case.

Statement of the Issues

- I. Whether the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel Construction, Inc., should be reversed because there are genuine issues as to material facts concerning Plaintiffs' claims as related to Contract Steel Construction, Inc.
- II. Whether the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel Construction, Inc., should be reversed because the trial court incorrectly found the contractual agreement between Contract Steel Construction, Inc. and EMJ Corporation to be ambiguous and improperly determined issues of fact regarding said contract that were appropriate for jury determination.

Statement of the Case

A. Proceedings Below

Plaintiff, John Meeker, alleges that he was injured on April 30, 2005 when he fell from a ladder at a J.C. Penney store under construction in Southaven, Mississippi, while his wife, also a plaintiff in this case (collectively "Plaintiffs"), has alleged damages related to loss of consortium. (R. 20-24). After having initially filed and then nonsuited a claim for this incident in a Tennessee court, Plaintiffs initiated this cause on April 24, 2008 in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi against J.C. Penney Company, Inc. ("J.C. Penney"); EMJ Corporation ("EMJ"); Harrell's Metal Works, Inc.; Contract Steel Construction, Inc. ("Contract Steel"); Hart, Gaugler and Associates, Inc.; J. Howard Nudell Architects, Inc. d/b/a Nudell Architects; Accurate & Precise Drafting; and Alan

Peletier (collectively "Defendants"). (R. 20). Plaintiffs' Complaint alleges that Defendants negligently designed, constructed, and installed and failed to warn with regard to a "ships ladder" at the J.C. Penney store under construction and that said negligence rendered the ladder defective and/or unreasonably dangerous. (R. 22-23). As a result of said defective and/or dangerous condition, Mr. Meeker alleges that he fell from the ladder sustaining injuries and damages. (R. 22-24). On June 3, 2008 and October 6, 2008, respectively, EMJ filed a Cross-Claim against Contract Steel sounding in both tort and contract and answered Plaintiffs' Complaint. (R. 50-54; 120-125).

During the course of proceedings in the Circuit Court, Harrell's Metal Works, Inc., Hart, Gaugler and Associates, Inc., J. Howard Nudell Architects, Inc. d/b/a Nudell Architects, Accurate & Precise Drafting, and Alan Peletier were voluntarily dismissed by Plaintiffs. J.C. Penney also filed a motion for summary judgment on October 28, 2008, which was granted on February 26, 2009. (R. 133-36; 540). On October 29, 2009, Contract Steel filed a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that it owed no duty to Plaintiffs and did not breach its contract with EMJ. (R. 545-47; 556-926) On December 9, 2009, EMJ responded to Contract Steel's Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that genuine issues of fact remained which prevented dismissal of the claims of Plaintiffs against Contract Steel and EMJ against Contract Steel. (R. 1027-1073). After hearing arguments on the motion, the trial court granted Contract Steel's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 17, 2009 finding no genuine issues of material fact with respect to all of the claims against Contract Steel. (R. 1183-1188). The court found that Contract Steel had completed work on the ladder in question, which EMJ had accepted,

thus negating Contract Steel's liability potentially arising from the ladder, if any. (Id.). Further, Contract Steel was not otherwise responsible for the claims in question because of a contractual ambiguity that negated Contract Steel's potential liability found by the court on the basis of a contract between Contract Steel and another defendant, Harrell's Metal Works, Inc., and not on the contract between not Contract Steel and EMJ that the court found created a question of responsibility for the condition of the ladder at the time of Mr. Meeker's accident, if any. (Id.).

Subsequent to the court's ruling, Plaintiffs filed a motion for Order directing entry of final judgment, which was granted on June 22, 2010. (R. 1274). EMJ next filed a timely notice of appeal on June 22, 2010. (R. 1275-76).

B. Statement of Facts

On April 30, 2005, plaintiff John Meeker conducted an inspection at a J.C. Penney store which was under construction in Southaven, Mississippi. (R. 22). To complete his inspection, Mr. Meeker utilized a ships ladder to access the roof of the building. (R. 22). After completing the inspection, Mr. Meeker fell while descending the ladder and sustained injuries. (R. 22-24). Mr. Meeker alleges that his fall and injuries were caused by defects in the design, construction, fabrication, and installation of the ladder and for failure to warn with regard thereto. (R. 22-24). His wife has made a claim for loss of consortium. (R. 24).

Prior to Plaintiffs' injuries, EMJ was hired by J.C. Penney to construct the J.C. Penney store in question. (R. 1028). EMJ subsequently contracted with various subcontractors, including Contract Steel, to perform diverse aspects of the construction.

(R. 1028). Contract Steel's contractual obligations included "[a]ll steel erection work including but not limited to work specified in Divisions 0, 1 and Sections 5120, 5210, 5310 and 5500," including the area of Mr. Meeker's injury. (R. 1028; 1037-1054). Further, EMJ-Contract Steel contractual agreement specifically required Contract Steel to: (1) install a roof ladder; (2) apply a non-skid surface to the ladder; (3) correct any errors in construction of the ladder; and (4) accept responsibility for the safety of all work and materials incorporated into the project, including the ladder. (R. 1028; 1037-1064). Concerning the non-slip surface issue specifically, Section 5500, 2.03(5) of the EMJ-Contract Steel agreement concerning the subject ladder states that Contract Steel must "[p]rovide non-slip surface on the top of each rung, either by coating the rung with aluminum oxide granules set in epoxy resin adhesive, or by using a type of manufactured rung which is filled with aluminum oxide grout." (R. 1028; 1058).

At the time of Mr. Meeker's accident, it is undisputed that Contract Steel's work on the subject ladder was not complete as the non-slip surface had not been applied to the ships ladder. (R. 1028-29; 1065-66). Randy Hartline, an EMJ employee, testified that at the time of Meeker's alleged accident, the project, including the ladder, was not complete, (R. 1029; 1065-66); the ladder could not have been completed because Contract Steel had not yet applied the non-skid surface as it was contractually required. (R. 1028; 1058). There is also no evidence that EMJ took control of the ladder prior to Mr. Meeker's alleged accident. Indeed, there is a question concerning the identity and affiliation of the individual who allegedly ordered the ladder to be permanently installed. (R. 1029; 1067-73). Mason Hitchens, a Contract Steel employee, testified that he noticed

a problem with the length of the ladder and notified an EMJ representative and others. (R. 1029; 1067-73). Ultimately, a J.C. Penney representative or an EMJ representative made the final decision concerning installation of the allegedly defective ladder. (R. 1029; 1067-73).

Summary of the Argument

EMJ asserts that the trial court below incorrectly found that there are no genuine issues of material fact concerning Plaintiffs' claims and EMJ's claims against Contract Steel. Specifically, the court found that Contract Steel completed its work on the ladder and that the ladder was accepted as being complete by EMJ, thus negating Contract Steel's potential liability. However, there is no evidence that the ladder was accepted by EMJ or that Contract Steel's work on the ladder was complete. Instead, the unambiguous provisions of the contract between EMJ and Contract Steel make it clear that Contract Steel's obligations concerning the ladder and work thereon were not completed at the time of Mr. Meeker's fall, raising questions as to the parties' respective liabilities.

What is more, in determining that summary judgment was appropriate and to overcome the plain language of the contract between EMJ and Contract Steel, the trial court impermissibly ventured "beyond the four corners" of the agreement of EMJ and Contract Steel addressing the possible condition that resulted in Plaintiffs' alleged injuries. The court did not find the terms of the parties' contract to be ambiguous; rather, the trial court examined another contract between EMJ and defendant Harrell's Metal Works, Inc. to create an ambiguity in the contract between EMJ and Contract Steel, which, respectfully, was improper. Additionally, even assuming that the contract

between EMJ and Contract Steel was ambiguous, which EMJ contends is not so, the trial court invaded the province of the finder of fact in resolving said ambiguity as a matter of law. The court also failed to take into account all pertinent provisions of the contract between EMJ and Contract Steel in granting summary judgment to Contract Steel.

For these reasons, EMG respectfully submits that the trial court's Order of summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel should be reversed as genuine issues of material fact exist making summary judgment inappropriate related to Contract Steel's completion of its contracted work and potential liability for Plaintiffs' injuries.

Argument

A. Standard of Review.

This Court applies a de novo standard of review to a trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment. Letich v. Miss. Guar. Ass'n, 27 So.3d 396, 398 (Miss. 2010) (citing Miss. Gaming Comm'n v. Treasured Arts, 699 So.2d 936, 938 (Miss. 1997)). Summary judgment may only be granted when there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id. All evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Watson Quality Ford, Inc. v. Casanova, 999 So.2d 830, 833 (Miss. 2008). "The burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of material fact falls upon the party requesting the summary judgment." Id. "Where there is the slightest doubt over whether a factual issue exists, the court should resolve in favor of the non-moving party." Id.

B. Applicable Law.

Generally, a sub-contractor who completes work for a general contractor that is accepted by the general contractor can no longer be held liable for the work performed. Fischbach & Moore, Inc. v. Foxworth, 152 So.2d 714, 715-17 (Miss. 1963). However, it must not be overlooked that there must be completion of the work in question and acceptance of same. See Id. at 715; see also, e.g., Couch v. City of D'Iberville, 656 So.2d 146 (Miss. 1995); May v. Ralph L. Dickerson Const. Corp., 560 So.2d 729 (Miss. 1990); McKay By and Through McKay v. Boyd Const. Co., Inc., 571 So.2d 916 (Miss. 1990); First Baptist Church of Corinth, Trustees of v. McElroy, 78 So.2d 138 (Miss. 1955); Higginbotham v. U.S. Indus., Inc., 584 F.Supp. 1273 (S.D. Miss. 1982). This is consistent with another general proposition of law that a general contractor typically has a duty to exercise reasonable care to furnish a safe work place to employees of subcontractors. Miss. Power Co. v Brooks, 309 So.2d 863, 866 (Miss. 1975). Of course, this duty to exercise reasonable care does not absolve a subcontractor from liability for its own acts of negligence that cause harm or injury to employees of other subcontractors. Lloyd G. Oliphant & Sons Paint Co. Inc. v. Logan, 12 So.3d 614, 618 (Miss. App. 2009); Ainsworth v. Capform, Inc., 784 So.2d 1008, 1011 (Miss. App. 2001). concerning completion and acceptance of work as well as control are questions of fact reserved for a jury. Ray v. Blockbuster, 9 So.3d 422, 426 (Miss. App. 2008). Exercise of reasonable care is likewise a jury question. Accu-Fab & Const., Inc. v. Ladner ex rel. Ladner, 970 So.2d 1276, 1287 (Miss. App. 2000).

Just as is the case with any other contractual situations, the relative rights and responsibilities of parties involved in construction projects can also be dependent to a certain extent on contracts freely entered into by the entities in question, which can include assumptions of rights or responsibilities. See, e.g., Hobson v. Waggoner Engineering, Inc., 878 So.2d 68, 69-76 (Miss. App. 2003) (while noting the general proposition of law that general contractors typically have a duty to exercise reasonable care to furnish a safe workplace for persons on a construction site, addressing whether an engineering firm could be held responsible for the wrongful death of a subcontractor's employee on a failure to warn theory by addressing the contractual terms involving the engineering firm); Hudgins v. Pensacola Const. Co., Inc., 630 So.2d 992, 993-94 (Miss. 1994) (finding summary judgment improperly granted in favor of a party involved in a construction project where an excavator was used to dredge and remove sand, gravel, and fill dirt from a previously undredged water area and where there was a question as to which party involved in the construction retained responsibility for the safety aspects of the job that allegedly have resulted in a wrongful death); see also Hopton Building Maintenance, Inc. v. United Parcel Service, Inc., 559 So.2d 1012, 1012-1014 (Miss. 1990) (addressing the extent of plaintiff maintenance company's assumption of responsibility under a services contract with the owner of a business). Furthermore, in determining the rights and responsibilities of parties related to a contract, the legal purpose and intent of the parties must be determined upon an objective reading of the words employed in the contract to the exclusion of "parol" or extrinsic evidence; in other words, the courts must review the "four corners" of the contract to determine the parties'

intent. Belager-Price v. Lingle, 28 So.3d 706, 711 (Miss. App. 2010) (citing One South, Inc. v. Hollowell, 963 So.2d 1156, 1162 (Miss. 2007)). Extrinsic or parol evidence is to be used only if the contract is ambiguous. Belager-Price, 28 So.3d at 711; see also Kendrix v Huckaby, 955 So. 2d 950, 952 (Miss. App. 2007). Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law. In re Dissolution of Marriage of Wood, 35 So.3d 507, 513 (Miss. 2010) (citing Harris v. Harris, 988 So.2d 376, 378 (Miss. 2008)). The subsequent interpretation of the ambiguous contractual terms, however, is a finding of fact which must be determined by a jury. Royer Homes of Miss., Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So.2d 748, 752 (Miss. 2003); see also Hicks v. North American Co. for Life and Health Ins., 47 So.3d 181, 185 (Miss. App. 2010).

- I. Whether the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel Construction, Inc., should be reversed because there are genuine issues as to material facts concerning Plaintiffs' claims as related to Contract Steel Construction, Inc.
 - A. Contract Steel's work on the ladder was incomplete, and Contract Steel did not relinquish control of the ladder prior to Meeker's fall, raising a question regarding Contract Steel's potential liability in this case.

In an effort to absolve itself of liability in this case, Contract Steel cited the above-referenced Foxworth case for the proposition that once a sub-contractor completes work for a general contractor and the work is accepted by the general contractor, the sub-contractor can no longer be held liable for the work performed. See Foxworth, 152 So.2d at 715-17. However, in Foxworth, it was undisputed that the work in question had been completed and accepted by the general contractor prior to the plaintiff's injuries. Id. at

The trial court favorably cited Foxworth and several other cases¹ in its Order 715. granting Contract Steel's Motion for Summary Judgment, but a review of those cases reveals that the issues of completion and acceptance were not in dispute. Conversely, in the present case, EMJ submits that the issue of whether the ladder was completed and accepted and who exercised control over the allegedly dangerous condition at the time of the accident is in dispute. Contract Steel avers that upon installation of the ladder it was completed and accepted by EMJ. EMJ maintains that the ladder was not completed upon installation because to the extent the ships ladder was defective, Contract Steel failed to correct errors in the ladder's construction. It is also undisputed that at the time of Mr. Meeker's accident, work on the ladder was not complete as the non-slip surface, which the parties' contract provided for, had not been applied by Contract Steel. Moreover, there is a dispute regarding whether EMJ accepted the ladder or control thereof from Contract Steel. Installation of the ladder was approved by either a J.C. Penney or EMJ representative, so any definitive determination that the ladder was accepted by EMJ is erroneous. The burden of demonstrating that there are no genuine issues of material fact rests with the movant in this case, Contract Steel, and Contract Steel has not presented any evidence that someone with authority approved the installation of the ladder or that it was accepted by EMJ as being complete. See Casanova, 999 So.2d at 833. Based upon this information, issues of fact concerning the completion and acceptance of the ladder as

¹ Couch v. City of D'Iberville, 656 So.2d 146 (Miss. 1995); May v. Ralph L. Dickerson Const. Corp., 560 So.2d 729 (Miss. 1990); McKay By and Through McKay v. Boyd Const. Co., Inc., 571 So.2d 916 (Miss. 1990); First Baptist Church of Corinth, Trustees of v. McElroy, 78 So.2d 138 (Miss. 1955); Higginbotham v. U.S. Indus., Inc., 584 F.Supp. 1273 (S.D. Miss. 1982).

well as control thereof remain, which must be resolved by a jury. See Ray, 9 So.3d at 426. Accordingly, summary judgment on this basis should be reversed.

B. Contract Steel can be held liable for its own negligence.

Contract Steel also argues that as a general contractor, EMJ had a duty to exercise reasonable care to furnish a safe work place to employees of subcontractors, including Mr. Meeker. See Brooks, 309 So.2d at 866. While EMG does not dispute this proposition of law entirely, EMJ's duty to exercise reasonable care to furnish a safe workplace cannot and does not absolve Contract Steel from liability for its own acts of negligence that cause harm or injury to employees of other subcontractors. See Logan, 12 So.3d at 618; Ainsworth, 784 So.2d at 1011. Contract Steel alleges EMJ alone failed to provide Meeker a safe workplace by allowing the allegedly defective ladder in question to be used. However, the allegedly dangerous condition of the ladder, including the allegedly dangerous installation and failure to apply the non-skid surface, was created by Contract Steel, who had control of the mode and manner of both the installation of the ladder and application of the non-skid surface. See Brooks, 309 So.2d at 866. The facts demonstrate that Contract Steel erected the ladder with EMJ's knowledge and with the consent of EMJ or J.C. Penney. However, because Contract Steel was the entity responsible for the allegedly defective installation and failure to apply the non-skid surface, a question of fact remains as to whether Contract Steel breached its duty to use reasonable care. See Ladner ex rel. Ladner, 970 So.2d at 1287. The jury should be allowed to consider Contract Steel's actions and determine whether said actions were negligent irrespective of EMJ's alleged duty to maintain a safe workplace as the parties'

duties are not mutually exclusive. <u>Id</u>. Given the facts as they are currently, the jury should have the opportunity to determine after appropriate consideration whether Contract Steel is liable for its own negligence in this case. <u>See Logan</u>, 12 So.3d at 618; <u>Ainsworth</u>, 784 So.2d at 1011; <u>Ladner ex rel. Ladner</u>, 970 So.2d at 1287.

II. Whether the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel Construction, Inc., should be reversed because the trial court incorrectly found the contractual agreement between Contract Steel Construction, Inc. and EMJ Corporation to be ambiguous and improperly determined issues of fact regarding said contract that were appropriate for jury determination.

A. The contract between EMJ and Contract Steel is not ambiguous.

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