17419/EIC

EMJ CORPORATION, APPELLANT

۷.

CAUSE NO.: 2010-CA-01076

CONTRACT STEEL CONSTRUCTION, INC., APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. EMJ Corporation, Appellant;
- 2. Contract Steel Construction, Inc., Appellee;
- 3. John Meeker, Plaintiff; and
- 4. Mary Lou Meeker, Plaintiff.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly held that Contract Steel was entitled to summary judgment on the Plaintiffs' claims and EMJ's cross-claim. At the time of the incident underlying this lawsuit, the undisputed evidence establishes that Contract Steel had completed all of the work that it had contractually agreed to perform on the ladder and that EMJ had accepted and approved Contract Steel's work and was in control of the ladder. As such, EMJ was the only party with any duty regarding the ladder under well-established Mississippi law, Contract Steel did not breach its contract with EMJ, and no genuine issue of material fact remains.

First, Contract Steel had completed all work it had contractually agreed to perform on the ladder and EMJ had taken control of the ladder at the time of John Meeker's fall. The contract between EMJ and Contract Steel was unambiguous and required Contract Steel to perform "steel erection work" as specified in certain sections of the contract. (R. at 1037.) EMJ does not dispute that a Contract Steel employee notified it that the ladder was too short, that EMJ was a party to approving the ladder for permanent installation when it knew that the treads of the ladder were not parallel to the ground, that Contract Steel "completed all welding" on the ladder, and that Contract Steel permanently installed the ladder which had rungs that were not perfectly parallel to the ground, all with the approval of EMJ. (R. at 1233–34; Br. of Appellant at 11.)

- 7

Contract Steel performed all of its duties regarding the safety of the ladder by informing EMJ of that the ladder was too short and giving EMJ the opportunity to inspect the ladder and have any fabrication errors in the ladder corrected.

Application of a non-slip surface is not "steel erection work," and Contract Steel was not responsible for correcting any deficiencies in the manufacture, drawing, design or fabrication of the ladder. (R. at 1121–35, 1037, 1042.) No deficiency in Contract Steel's installation or welding of the ladder have been identified or asserted by EMJ. The ladder remains as installed by Contract Steel with the exception that it now has the non-slip coating which EMJ applied and for which it reduced the amount it paid Harrell's. (R. at 1038, 1128–31.) Accordingly, Contract Steel completed all of the work it contractually agreed to perform on the ladder prior to John Meeker's fall.

Moreover, to the extent that the contract between Contract Steel could be construed as ambiguous in that one of the subsections which specifies the "steel erection work" Contract Steel was to perform under the contract included a metal fabrication specification providing for the application of a non-slip surface to the ladder, that ambiguity must be construed against EMJ, a representative of EMJ clarified Contract Steel's duties through his testimony, and no genuine issue of material fact remains regarding the interpretation of the contract. Specifically, EMJ's project manager, John Hall, testified under oath that Contract Steel had no obligation under the contract between EMJ and Contract Steel to apply the non-slip surface, was never asked by EMJ to do so, and was not the sub-contractor who ultimately applied the coating to the ladder. (R. at 1121–35.) Rather, EMJ applied the non-slip surface and issued a field work order and deductive change order to the fabricator, Harrell's Metal Works, whereby EMJ deducted \$560.00 from the amount paid to Harrells as a result of

EMJ's cost in coating the treads of the ship's ladder with anti-slip epoxy. (R. at 1129.) No such field work order or deductive change order was ever issued to Contract Steel. (R. at 1137.) Contract Steel was paid in full for its work. (R. at 1137.)

Additionally, the undisputed evidence establishes that EMJ had accepted and approved Contract Steel's installation of the ladder prior to John Meeker's fall. At the time the ladder was inspected by EMJ's job superintendent Randy Hartline and an "unknown individual" whom EMJ asserts was a JCP representative. EMJ knew the treads of the ladder were not parallel to the floor. (R. at 1234.) The ladder was approved by and permanently installed at the directive of Hartline and an "unknown individual" whom EMJ asserts was a JCP representative who inspected the ladder with Hartline. (R. at 384.) Specifically, EMJ has admitted that during Hartline's inspection of the ladder, the "unknown individual" whom EMJ asserts was a JCP representative "stated that the ladder looked great and should not be reinstalled or removed" because it was an "access ladder not an 'easy access ladder' so the alleged deficiencies need not be cured." (R. at 384.) Randy Hartline was responsible for safety on the project and was, at a minimum, a party to this approval. (R. at 267, 384.) EMJ accepted the ladder and poured the concrete floor around the welds. (R. 285-87). Accordingly, EMJ accepted and approved Contract Steel's installation of the ladder with rungs that were not perfectly parallel to the floor.

No genuine issue of material fact remains, as the undisputed evidence establishes that Contract Steel had completed its work on the ladder and that EMJ had accepted and approved that work at the time of John Meeker's fall. As such, under well-established Mississippi law, EMJ had control of the ladder. Moreover, EMJ demonstrated its control over the ladder on the day of the incident underlying this

lawsuit by directing John Meeker to use the ladder without seeking permission from Contract Steel. Thus, the undisputed evidence establishes that Contract Steel has no liability for this lawsuit under Mississippi law and that Contract Steel fulfilled the duties it agreed to perform in its contract with EMJ. Contract Steel, therefore, respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in its favor.

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel on both the Plaintiffs' claims and EMJ's Cross-Claim, as no genuine issue of material fact remains and the undisputed evidence establishes that Contract Steel had completed all of the duties it had contractually agreed to perform on the ladder with EMJ's approval and EMJ had taken control of the ladder prior to John Meeker's fall.

This Court employs a de novo standard of review to a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment. <u>Williamson v. Keith</u>, 786 So. 2d 390, 393 (Miss. 2001). Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(b) provides that "a party against whom a claim . . . is asserted . . . may, at any time, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof." The well-settled standard under Rule 56 is that summary judgment shall be granted where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c); see City of Starkville v. 4-County Elec. Power Ass'n, 819 So. 2d 1216 (Miss. 2002). A party seeking to avoid entry of summary judgment must "establish a genuine issue of material fact by the means available under the rule." Lowery v. Guar. Bank and Trust Co., 592 So. 2d 79, 81 (Miss. 1991).

1. EMJ does not have standing to appeal the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel on the Plaintiffs' claims.

EMJ does not have standing to appeal the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel on the Plaintiffs' claims. "Standing' is a jurisdictional issue which may be raised by any party or the Court at any time." City of Madison v. Bryan, 763 So. 2d 162, 166 (Miss. 2000). It is hornbook law that a party may only appeal judgments which affect its own interests, and not the interests of a coparty. Morrison-Knudsen Co. v. CHG Intern'l, Inc., 811 F.2d 1209, 1214 (9th Cir. Cal. 1987). An indirect financial stake in another party's claims is insufficient to create standing on appeal. Id. In other words, a party may not appeal a judgment unless he retains a personal stake in the outcome of the appeal and is "aggrieved" by the judgment. Myatt v. Peco Foods, 22 So. 3d 334, 337 (Miss. 2009). EMJ can have no tort liability for Contract Steel's alleged negligence, and EMJ has not established that it retains a personal stake in the outcome of the Plaintiffs' claims against Contract Steel or is somehow "aggrieved" by the trial court's entry of summary judgment on the Plaintiffs' claims against Contract Steel. As such, EMJ's appeal of the Plaintiffs' claims should be dismissed. See id. (holding that a defendant did not have standing to appeal a trial court's entry of a final summary judgment in favor of a co-defendant under Rule 54(b) as he had not shown the court what prejudice he would suffer under that judgment).

II. Alternatively, the trial court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel Construction, Inc. on the Plaintiffs' claims, as the undisputed evidence establishes that Contract Steel had completed all of the work it had contractually agreed to perform on the ladder, that EMJ had accepted that work, and that EMJ had control of the ladder prior to John Meeker's fall.

Alternatively, should this Court determine that EMJ has standing to appeal the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel on the Plaintiffs'

claims, this Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Contract Steel on those claims. Contract Steel had no duty to the Plaintiffs regarding the ladder under Mississippi law at the time of John Meeker's fall because Contract Steel had completed its work on the ladder, EMJ had accepted and approved Contract Steel's installation of the ladder with rungs that were not perfectly parallel to the floor, and EMJ had control over the ladder at the time of the Plaintiff's fall.

Under Mississippi law, where a general contractor has control over the details of work and acts of employees of subcontractors and other persons on the job site, the general contractor has a duty to furnish employees of subcontractors with a safe place to work and warn of any hazards. <u>See, eg., Miss. Power Co. v. Brooks</u>, 309 So. 2d 863, 863 (Miss. 1975); <u>Ingalls Shipbuilding Corp. v. McDougald</u>, 228 So. 2d 365, 367 (Miss. 1969). While a general contractor is not generally liable for the negligence of an independent sub-contractor, the general contractor is, of course, liable for its own negligence. <u>Brooks</u>, 309 So.2d at 866 (noting that a contractor has the obligation to furnish the employees of the subcontractor a reasonably safe place to work). The general contractor controls the work site, and has the duty to exercise reasonable care to furnish a safe work place, and the duty to warn a subcontractor, such as Meeker, of any dangerous conditions it is aware of at the site. <u>Id.; Ingalls, 228 So. 2d at 367</u>.

The determination of whether a party has a duty is a question of law, and therefore is properly addressed in a motion for summary judgment. <u>See Rein v.</u> <u>Benchmark Constr. Co.</u>, 865 So. 2d 1134, 1143-44 (Miss. 2004). Where a dangerous or unsafe condition allegedly caused damages, the party with control over the alleged unsafe condition is the party charged with the duty to warn regarding the condition. See

Ray v. Blockbuster, Inc., 9 So. 3d 422, 425 (Miss. App. 2008)¹; Intern'l Paper Co. v. <u>Townsend</u>, 961 So. 2d 741, 741 (Miss. App. 2007) (the party with control over work performed by a sub-contractor has a duty to furnish a reasonably safe workplace with respect to this work, and to warn of any unsafe conditions of which it has knowledge). Accordingly, the key determination as to whether a party has a duty with respect to an unsafe condition is whether the party had control over the alleged condition, and whether the party knew or should have known about the condition. <u>Id.</u>

Once a sub-contractor completes work for its general contractor and the general contractor approves and accepts the work, the subcontractor has turned over control of the work (and any conditions of the work known to the general contractor) to the general contractor. <u>Fischbach & Moore, Inc. v. Foxworth</u>, 152 So. 2d 714, 715-17 (Miss. 1963). Further, after the sub-contractor turns over control, it no longer has a duty to a party injured as a result of conditions of the work performed by the sub-contractor. <u>Id.</u> Specifically, once such work is accepted, the general contractor "is substituted as the party responsible for existing defects" and the sub-contractor is relieved from any liability. <u>Id.</u> at 716. "The reason for the substitution of liability is found in the general

¹ EMJ incorrectly cites <u>Ray v. Blockbuster</u> as support for its assertion that questions regarding whether work has been accepted and completed and what party is in control of the work are questions of fact reserved for a jury on pages 7 and 11 of its brief. This statement is not an accurate interpretation of that case. In fact, the <u>Ray</u> case did not involve any question regarding completion and acceptance of work, and neither of those words is even mentioned in the opinion. <u>See, generally, Ray v. Blockbuster, Inc.</u>, 9 So. 3d 422 (Miss. App. 2008). Rather, the <u>Ray</u> case involved a question of whether a lessee or lessor controlled the subject property. <u>Id.</u> at 423–24. Moreover, while the <u>Ray</u> court found that the plaintiff **had presented sufficient evidence** to create an issue of fact over whether a defendant had control over the condition at issue, and therefore reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of that defendant, <u>id.</u> at 425–26, **it never stated or even implied that questions of control are** "generally reserved for the jury." Further, the <u>Ray</u> court acknowledged the general principle that where a party does not have control over a condition, no duty exists and there is no cause of action. <u>Id.</u> at 425. In the instant case, EMJ has neither asserted nor set forth any evidence that Contract Steel maintained control over the ladder.

doctrine that an action for negligence will not lie unless the defendant was under some duty, which he has omitted to perform, to the injured party at the time and place where the injury occurred." Id. As such, once a contractor has completed its work and the general contractor has accepted it, the "contractor is not bound to see that the subject matter of the work remains free from dangerous conditions, unless such a duty is imposed by an express agreement or by statute." Id. at 716. This rule applies even where an injury to a third person results from the sub-contractor's failure to properly carry out its contract, because the key fact is the acceptance and approval of the completed work by the general contractor. Id. This rule is well-established under Mississippi law. See, e.g., Couch v. City of D'Iberville, 656 So. 2d 146, 151-52 (Miss. 1995) (upholding directed verdict in favor of subcontractor where his work had been accepted and approved); Williams v. Sullivan, 209 So. 2d 618, 621 (Miss 1968) (affirming trial judge's decision to enter a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and enter judgment for subcontractor because subcontractor had no duty after completion and acceptance of his work); Fischbach, 152 So. 2d at 715-17 (fully analyzed below); Vicksburg v. Holmes, 63 So. 454, 455 (1913) (stating that it is the general rule that when a contractor has completed its work and that work has been accepted by the proprietor, the contractor has no further liability for that work, as all such liability is shifted to the proprietor).

In <u>Fischbach</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court concluded that an electrical subcontractor did not have any duty with respect to a general contractor's employee's injuries sustained by electrical shock because the sub-contractor completed its work and the general contractor approved and accepted the work. <u>Id.</u> at 717. The court noted that an independent contractor, such as the electrical sub-contractor hired to

perform electrical work, could not be held liable for injuries occurring to a third person after the sub-contractor had completed its work and turned it over to the general contractor and the general contractor had accepted that work. <u>Id.</u> at 716.

A. <u>The undisputed evidence establishes that Contract Steel had completed all of</u> its work on the ladder at the time of John Meeker's fall.

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